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Foreword

FLT LT RODNEY SCRASE DFC,
 NO. 72 (BASUTOLAND) SQUADRON

What do you remember of someone you last saw over sixty years ago? For me Barney was a dependable guy. Down at the flight line in Sicily, there he was in bush shirt and shorts, wearing his service cap with his reddish face around a bristly moustache. That was in Sicily during the summer of 1943. We had to contend with a hot climate with gusty winds, corned beef for meals, which melted off the plate, and living in tented accommodation with buckets of water to wash in; conditions in which it was not easy to keep smiling or to hear a snappy remark thrown in. But that was Barney, and that’s the way we found him to be in his ten months with the Squadron.

In his five years’ war-time service with the RAF, Barney would carry out three tours of operational flying in Britain, Malta, Sicily and Italy, interspersed with two tours of instructing, preparing new boys for their own tour of duty. Undoubtedly he found his time in 72 Squadron very fulfilling. In a unit in which there were air crew from most countries of the Empire, we all found him to be very much one of the boys and a competent pilot to whom one could look for guidance.

The man with whom he shared a nickname, Group Captain Barney Beresford OC 324 Wing, signed off Barney’s log book in October 1945 with the assessment: ‘Rated as exceptional as a fighter-bomber pilot and a flight commander.’
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PROLOGUE

Malta Under Siege

Experienced pilots from Malta had been sent back to Gibraltar to meet up with the aircraft carriers USS Wasp and HMS Eagle to guide the new batch of Spitfires into the beleaguered island. Squadron Leader Stan Grant from 249 Squadron would lead the first batch of sixteen. They were to fly along the north coast of Algeria and Tunisia as far as Cap Bon, then head south-east to skirt around the enemy-held island of Pantelleria in the Sicilian channel before heading for Malta.

On the morning of 9 May 1942 they were roused early. After eating breakfast and receiving a final briefing, they were ordered to their aircraft. They were only allowed to take the bare minimum of personal kit. With the engines roaring into life, the ground crew checked that the propellers were set to fine pitch. This had to be done because if the propellers had been left in coarse pitch, the Spitfires would not accelerate quickly enough to gain flying speed and would drop like stones off the bow of the huge aircraft carrier, USS Wasp. The deck officers waved their chequered flags and with full throttle applied, and emergency override to get the maximum speed out of the aircraft as they flew off the deck, the Spitfires began their historic journey to Malta.

Ray Hesselyn, a New Zealander, in his book Spitfires over Malta (jointly written with Australian, Paul Brennan, also with 249 Squadron, and author Henry Bateson) recalled the events of 9 May:


At dawn [Sqn Ldr] Gracie again addressed us. He stood on the roof of a utility truck with pilots, ground crew and soldiers lined up on the aerodrome in front of him. He spoke in the same strain as on the previous evening and wished everyone good luck. Oddly enough, on this crucial day the Ju88s had omitted their usual early morning raid and did not come over, nor did any Me109s. Between 9 and 10, four boys were scrambled, the rest of us knew they had gone up to cover the arrival of the new Spitfires. Everybody was happy and excited, keyed up with expectation.

In a few minutes the new boys started coming in over Imtarfa hill. At the same time the 109s arrived over Malta. The first bunch of Spits landed and I led an aircraft into my pen. The waiting ground crew pounced on it eagerly and began to rearm and refuel it. Its pilot, Pilot Officer Barnfather, an Englishman, climbed out of his cockpit and I handed him his written instructions. More Spits were coming over the hill and arrived in the circuit at the same time as a number of 109s. One of my erks, a big wild-looking fellow who had not shaved for three days, kept changing tools every few minutes. One minute he would have a rifle in his hands and [be] taking pot shots at the 109s and the next he would grab a tool and be undoing a panel or some screws on the Spits panel. Barnfather and I watched the Spits circling. That one will get it in a moment I remarked. It did. A Me109 blew a large piece out of the Spit’s port side near the cockpit. The Spit made hurriedly for the aerodrome and after three attempts successfully force-landed. By this time there was a terrific din going on. The ground defences were engaging heavily and there was a lot of cannon fire between opposing aircraft. On the aerodrome, newly arrived Spits were being shepherded to their pens. They were refuelled and rearmed quickly and pilots clambered into their cockpits ready to take off immediately the order came. Within the 10 minutes of landing many of the new Spits were going up again.



It was a triumph of organisation and Barney had arrived in Malta.


CHAPTER 1

Early Life

Riversdale Robert Barnfather’s arrival in the world at Yalding in Kent on 22 October 1917 was a little less spectacular than at Malta twenty-five years later. He was the third of three children who were born into a family of publicans. His mother and father, Thomas and Alice, ran The Engineer public house at Yalding. Confusingly, Riversdale would subsequently be known as ‘Riv’ to his family, ‘Robert’ at school, ‘Barney’ in his RAF career and ‘Bob’ at work and in later family life. For the sake of clarity, in this book we shall refer to him as ‘Barney’. At the time of his birth, the First World War was three years old and Barney’s father, Thomas, was serving with the Royal Engineers in France as a sergeant-major.

From 1930–4 Barney attended Latymer Upper School in Hammersmith, and it was on the sports field that he really excelled. He succeeded in getting his First XI caps in football and cricket and a cap in boxing. Indeed, he went on to represent the public school’s First XI at outside half in football and his love of the game remained with him for the rest of his life.

From school Barney joined the firm of Gordian Strapping Ltd as a salesman, travelling the country selling their wares which included packs, pallet and strapping products. He would often stay in bed and breakfasts or pubs on his travels. It was on one such stop at a small town near Bristol called Keynsham that he met the Ollis family and, in particular, one of the daughters, Dorothy. She was 22 years old, highly impressionable and took a shine to the young travelling salesman with his own ‘wheels’. Barney often stayed at Ivy Lodge opposite the Talbot Inn on the London Road; with his job as an area representative and salesman for Gordian Strapping, he became a familiar face around Keynsham.

The year 1939 arrived and with it the fear of another war with Germany. At 11.15 a.m. on 3 September, the Prime Minister Neville Chamberlain declared that ‘this country is at war with Germany’. The Second World War had begun and by the end of September some 1½ million evacuees, mainly women and children, had been moved to areas of safety in the West Country, and the first British troops had been sent to France as part of the British Expeditionary Force to help defend the French border with Germany.

Despite the outbreak of war, the friendship between Barney and Dorothy blossomed, and Barney decided to volunteer for the Royal Air Force. He joined the RAF Volunteer Reserve (RAFVR) in August 1940 and soon after signing up he broke the news to the four people most immediately affected. Their reactions were almost the same in one respect, but quite different in others. His mother, he recalled, expressed no surprise, but she did betray a degree of anxiety; his father, whom he told over a pint in a pub at Purley, was also not surprised and seemed rather relieved that it was the RAF; neither was his brother in any way surprised. In fact, his brother’s immediate response was to say that he too would be joining up. Barney’s boss seemed to have been half expecting it, but Barney had the feeling that he was sorry he would be leaving.

Early in July he received a letter from the RAF Recruiting Centre asking him to report to the RAFVR Centre the following month. He was told to come prepared for immediate service and listed the various items that he would need.

Before he commenced his training, however, Barney had a far more important task and this was to get married. In view of his enlistment and because of the war, he had to obtain a special licence to marry Dorothy. And married they were, on 2 August 1940 at St John’s Parish Church in Keynsham. Four days later he began his initial training and ‘square-bashing’ at No. 10 (Signals) Recruit Centre at Blackpool.

On completion of basic training, Barney’s next move was in December 1940 to Babbacombe near Torquay in south Devon. Torquay and South Devon seemed far removed from all the action and consequently proved to be an attractive retreat. Those who could afford it chose to escape there from the larger urban areas which were under threat of bombing attacks.

In common with many other seaside resort towns, Torquay was also chosen by the RAF to establish a Reserve Wing, later to become an Initial Training Wing. Many of the local hotels were requisitioned for use as accommodation and for training purposes. New recruits continued their ‘square-bashing’ by the harbour side.

No. 1 Initial Training Wing (ITW) had been formed at Babbacombe in June 1940. Postings were made from Babbacombe to Elementary Flying Training Schools (EFTS) – including those overseas in Canada and Southern Rhodesia, now Zimbabwe – where they eventually qualified as pilots, observers, W/T operators and wireless operators/air gunners.

After passing simple examinations, those who were successful left for flying training elsewhere. Some of them went to the United States, while others were shared between two Elementary Flying Training Schools. Barney was posted to No. 14 EFTS at Elmdon, Birmingham, in April 1941.

The course at Elmdon lasted for about two months, at the end of which, in theory, a newly qualified pilot would be ready to join an operational squadron. After a few hours’ dual flying Barney went solo on 30 April. By June, Barney was assessed as ‘average’ as a pilot and after a couple of weeks’ leave it was confirmed that he was being recommended for fighters and was to report to No. 9 Service Flying Training School (SFTS) at Hullavington in Wiltshire, which was not that far by road from Keynsham.

By the end of May Barney had accumulated 13 hours dual and nearly 16 hours solo on the Miles Master and had completed several local cross-country navigation tests around Colerne, Hullavington and Babdown. By 6 August he was ready for his first flight in a front-line fighter, the Hawker Hurricane. The experience was exhilarating, the power impressed him and the flight was memorable. Formation flying and practice landings followed at different airfields, among them Aston Down near Stroud and Charmy Down at Swainswick, just outside Bath (‘tricky due to the winds on the top of the hill’), where the airfield had been built overlooking the Georgian city and the beautiful valleys around Lansdown.

Barney learnt that the key to being a fighter pilot was to stick close to the leader, and that this would require immense concentration. He would need to remain alert and be adept at using the throttles, stick and rudder. With more practice it would become second nature and he would be able to take off and fly in formation, either in cloud or on landing.

The final examination proved straightforward and he was awarded his wings on 13 September 1941. His log book was endorsed with an overall proficiency as ‘average’ and an aptitude as a ‘pilot/navigator’.

A couple of weeks later, Barney was posted to No. 57 Operational Training Unit (OTU) at Hawarden, a few miles from Chester, where he would learn to fly Spitfires. Before the Second World War, aircrew completed operational training on their squadrons. Once war had broken out, it became obvious that this could no longer be undertaken by operational units and by personnel actively engaged on operations. At first, squadrons were taken off operations and allocated to the task of preparing new pilots and crews, but before long these training squadrons were re-designated Operational Training Units (or OTUs).

Barney’s first flight in a Spitfire was on 30 September 1941. It was a Mark I, powered by a 1,030hp Rolls-Royce Merlin II liquid-cooled engine, with a single-speed supercharger and a two-position, variable-pitch, three-bladed metal propeller, giving the aircraft a top speed of 362mph at 19,000ft and a service ceiling of 34,000ft. It was able to climb at 2,500ft per minute and could reach 20,000ft in 9 minutes.

He was shown the various cockpit instruments, the knobs and levers and the operation of the reflector gunsight, and the gun-firing mechanism with its ‘fire-safe’ switch. It was a vast array of instrumentation and Barney had to identify each dial and switch before he would be allowed to fly the Spitfire. After checking and rechecking, testing the controls, the radio, the oxygen and fuel states, practising rolling the perspex hood back and forth, switching on the gunsight and testing the range bar, he was ready. With the propeller in fine pitch, he primed the engine, switched on, and gave a nod to the airman by the external starter battery. He pressed the starter button and the Merlin engine burst into life. Recounting that moment years later, some aspects of that first flight were as vivid as if they had been the day before. Take-off was simple. Correcting the swing with the right rudder as the power built up, he bounced a few times on the grass and then he was up and clear of the airfield. The Spitfire climbed into the sky and once more Barney sensed the tremendous power of the engine. He practised aerobatics and medium and steep turns. The Spitfire responded to the slightest touch and the forward visibility was excellent. The only blind spot was behind the tail, but this was helped by a rear-view mirror mounted on the top of the windscreen.

One of the features of the Spitfire, he discovered, was the wonderful handling characteristic at low speeds and at high ‘g’ when close to the stall. With full power in a steep turn she would judder, but as long as she was handled correctly she would not spin. Some years later, Barney recalled coming in to land on that first flight. Returning to Hawarden, he put the airscrew into fine pitch, lowered the undercarriage, turned cross-wind, lowered the flaps and straightened out for a final approach before the Spitfire ‘floated’ down onto the grass airfield again. It was a description that many pilots would come to use about the Spitfire: she tended to ‘float’ because of her clean lines, which blessed her with a minimum of aerodynamic drag. She was an absolute delight to fly.

Over the next month Barney concentrated on his formation flying, practised dog-fighting, aerobatics and circuits and bumps, together with firing his guns and making practice interceptions. By 10 November he had completed the final leg of his training at 57 OTU and his course was finished. Again he was assessed as ‘average’, only this time he was posted on to an operational fighter unit – 234 Squadron based at Ibsley in Hampshire.


CHAPTER 2

Operational at Last

Ibsley and 234 Squadron, 1941

No. 234 Squadron was originally formed in August 1918 as a flying boat squadron. It flew anti-submarine patrols over the approaches to the English Channel until the armistice, but was disbanded on 15 May 1919. On 30 October 1939, it was reformed at Leconfield, Yorkshire, as a fighter squadron. Originally intended for shipping protection duties, it flew a mixture of Blenheims, Battles and Gauntlets until March 1940, when it began to receive Spitfires. The squadron became operational on 11 May and throughout the Battle of Britain it was based in southern England. In April 1941 it began sweeps over northern France from its base at Warmwell in Dorset.

During the latter stages of 1941 and early 1942, the RAF was given new orders to take the fight back to the enemy, across the Channel and into northern France.

The new Spitfire Mk VB, with which 234 Squadron was now equipped, was much improved when compared to the earlier marks, especially its rate of climb, and it had a better performance at height. It was proving to be a match for the latest Me109F, but it was to find the superb German Focke-Wulf Fw190 a tougher proposition. Attempts were made to increase the range of the Spitfire by using new long-range ‘slipper tanks’ which could be jettisoned once the fuel inside had been used. The additional fuel allowed aircraft to operate over the Brest peninsula or along the Dutch coast, but even so the Spitfires would be flying at the maximum range of their endurance and flying over an inhospitable English Channel.

The new fighter operations, called ‘sweeps’, were given codenames – Circus, Rodeo, Rhubarb and Ramrod, with the following meanings: Circus – consisting of a bomber force or fighter-bombers which would be escorted by fighters to draw up other enemy fighters into combat; Rodeo – fighter sweep without bombers; Rhubarb – small sections of fighters, mainly in pairs, would attack targets of opportunity such as trains, troops, road transport and airfields; Ramrod – bomber force with a fighter escort to attack a specific target.

Fighter squadrons based across southern England, and including those stationed at Ibsley, carried out operations such as these. No. 234 Squadron (which had moved to Ibsley in November), together with 118 and 501 Squadrons, formed what became known as the Ibsley Wing under the leadership of Wg Cdr Ian ‘Widge’ Gleed DFC. Gleed was tiny, standing only 5ft 2in tall, but he had earned the respect of everyone who served under him, having fought in the Battle for France and the Battle of Britain. No. 118 Squadron was commanded by Sqn Ldr J.C. Carver, RAFVR. No. 234 Squadron was commanded by Sqn Ldr M.V. Blake, a New Zealander and another pre-war pilot who had flown in the Battle of Britain; and No. 501 Squadron was commanded by Sqn Ldr C.F. Currant, inevitably known as ‘Bunny’.

The airfield at Ibsley had been opened in 1941 as a satellite to Middle Wallop. It was situated to the west of the New Forest, near the village of Ringwood, and about 10 miles from Bournemouth. In November 1941 Ibsley had been honoured by a visit from HRH the Duke of Kent who also went into the Officers’ Mess and witnessed the arrival of No. 234 (Madras Presidency) Squadron from Warmwell. They were equipped with Spitfire VBs, which carried the squadron code ‘AZ’. At this time, daily operational life was pretty mundane as a look at a typical week from the 234 Squadron’s Operations Record Book (ORB) reveals:

1 NOVEMBER

Four aircraft attacked the Beam station at Jo’burg, direct hits were observed by each aircraft on the main building, which was shattered. Two shipping reconnaissance carried out by eight aircraft. No shipping was sighted. A wireless station at Point du Saire was attacked by two aircraft but direct hits were not registered.

2 NOVEMBER

Four aircraft attacked wireless station at Audeville, hits registered on building but Plt Off Meyer developed engine trouble after the attack and is believed to have force-landed on Alderney. Convoy protection given during the morning.

3 NOVEMBER

Three shipping reconnaissance carried out over the Channel Islands by sections of aircraft. An ‘E’ Boat was attacked by Red Section [Flt Lt Mortimer Rose and Plt Off Bland] to the north of Sark. Further reconnaissance showed that this vessel had been sunk.

4 NOVEMBER

Local flying only.

5 NOVEMBER

Squadron left Warmwell for Ibsley.

6 NOVEMBER

Local flying. Escort given to Lysanders in search of missing Whirlwind.

7 NOVEMBER

Local flying. Convoy protection given until dusk.

December was also pretty quiet. The weather kept operations to a minimum, as the ORB records:

5 DECEMBER

Two aircraft [Sgt Walker and Plt Off Clarke] were sent on a shipping reconnaissance off the Cherbourg peninsula, from which they did not return. Subsequent searching by aircraft from Warmwell and six of our aircraft failed to find anything. It is presumed they penetrated the ten-mile limit of the French coast and were probably decoyed by enemy aircraft to fly over the peninsula, and were ultimately shot down by these bandits or by flak, which is known to be intense over the area.

Local flying. Two sections scrambled base. Practice cannon firing and air testing. Convoy protection. 

17 DECEMBER

Local flying, the squadron flew to Portreath, Cornwall, in the afternoon.

The presence of the German battle cruisers, Scharnhorst and Gneisenau, lying in Brest harbour posed a serious threat to the all-important convoys crossing the Atlantic. So much so that two large daylight bomber raids were specially mounted in December 1941. Again, the squadron ORB reports:

18 DECEMBER

The squadron, with eleven aircraft led by Sqn Ldr Blake DFC, acted as top cover for twelve Stirlings and offensive operations by Halifax and Manchester aircraft on Brest. They patrolled the area to the north of Brest outside the flak area to escort the Stirlings on their return flight. Several Me109s were sighted but they made no attempt to intercept. Plt Off Denville chased and engaged one of these enemy aircraft and registered hits on the fuselage, this claimed as damaged. The squadron returned to Ibsley in the afternoon.

No Spitfires were lost and two Me109s were claimed as destroyed and two damaged by other squadrons, but the German battleships remained largely unscathed. 

[image: images]

On the afternoon of Christmas Eve 1941, the squadron was ordered to Predannack. It was an easy time for the ground crews as the whole wing had flown off and did not return for several days. They had departed on another Ramrod operation against Brest and were expected back later that day. They needed to land at St Eval in Cornwall to refuel, but before they could take off again the weather worsened and they were grounded for a few days.

Back at Ibsley on Christmas morning there was egg, bacon and sausages for breakfast. The dining hall had been decorated with flags and bunting and the officers, NCOs and other pilots who had not made the trip, including Barney, served the other ranks. They had a full menu: soup followed by fish, with a main course of turkey, pork, stuffing, apple sauce and gravy with sprouts and baked potatoes. The traditional Christmas pudding and brandy sauce followed, and the meal was finished with beer, minerals, nuts and cigarettes. Considering that food rationing was in force, it was a grand affair.

During the meal the station orchestra, normally reserved for the Officers’ Mess, played dance tunes and swing numbers. Later on in the afternoon, after a game of football, everyone had mince pies and two bottles of ale each. Activities were livened up by one of the 118 boys who took up a Tiger Moth and chased the ball around, flying at about 10ft off the ground. He nearly lost it after banking steeply when his wing-tip creased the grass. In the evening, professional performers in the RAF put on a polished and enjoyable performance so that everyone retired after a good day.

The squadron ORB recorded the following:

30 DECEMBER

The squadron operating from Predannack, Cornwall, gave escort to Halifax aircraft in an attack on the naval base at Brest. Sgt Joyce was posted missing from operation.

That morning the squadron had woken to a bright and frosty start and the wing had flown down to Predannack in Cornwall where, under Wg Cdr Ian Gleed and with Sqn Ldr Carver as his number two, they had taken off shortly after 1 p.m. on a Circus operation against Brest, Operation Veracity. The task of the wing was to escort the Halifax bombers and defend them against attack from enemy fighters. Some enemy fighters were seen and an aircraft that was lagging behind the main formation paid the price. The Spitfires escorted the bombers into the flak area and one Spitfire appeared to be hit by a bomb, which fortunately did not explode. The operation itself cost three fighters and three bombers. Sgt Pilot A. E. ‘Teddy’ Joyce was one of those lost. Apparently he had baled out from his plane, was wounded and taken prisoner of war. It was learned sometime later that he had been transferred to Stalag Luft III, the notorious prisoner-of-war camp at Sagen in eastern Poland.


CHAPTER 3

On the Offensive

234 Squadron, 1942

The squadron was released for New Year’s Day and weather continued to hamper operations during the early part of the year.

8 JANUARY

Barney’s Flying Log Book (Log Book): Swanage and Portland – nowt!!

Squadron ORB (ORB): Practice flying formation and cannon testing. Two bogey scrambles by four aircraft.

10 JANUARY

ORB: Local formation practice flights – one bogey scramble by two aircraft.

Sergeant Campbell of 501 Squadron was lost when his Spitfire broke up in mid-air and crashed at Rockborne near Fordingbridge. 

Flying cancelled as the weather conditions poor. It wasn’t just poor, the airfield was covered in snow and the runways had to be swept clear using bundles of heather gathered from Ibsley Common.

29 JANUARY

Log Book: Shipping recco – My first sight! Flight panic for 118 Sgt in drink.

ORB: Six a/c carried out search south-east of St Catherines point for missing pilot of 118 Squadron. Returned after one hour with nothing of interest to report. Sqn Ldr F.E.W. Birchfield took over command of squadron.

No. 118 Squadron’s Commanding Officer was Johnny Carver and he, with Sgt Frank Brown, Plt Off Ted Ames and Sgt Hardy Kerr, had led a sweep attack on a distillery at Courselles sur Mer. It was on the return journey that Sgt Kerr was seen to be lagging when suddenly his aircraft shot into the air, turned on its back and crashed into the sea. Kerr was seen to bale out at 400ft with his parachute opening before he hit the water, but a subsequent search by Coastal Command and his fellow pilots proved useless and Kerr was presumed lost.

1–3 FEBRUARY

ORB: Weather cancelled all flying. Weather was bloody awful. No. 118 Squadron lost Plt Off Ted Ames during a fight with several Me109s whilst on a ‘Rhubarb’ with Flt Lt Pete Howard Williams, to whom he was flying No. 2. Williams managed to get one however which dived into the sea, but he was then attacked by the other Me109s and had to break off and take evasive action in and out of cloud to find his way home.

4–6 FEBRUARY

ORB: Local flying with practice formation and convoy protection.

7 FEBRUARY

ORB: Convoy protection, one bogey scramble, four aircraft carried out a shipping reconnaissance of the Cherbourg peninsula but nothing of interest was sighted.

8 FEBRUARY

ORB: Four aircraft carried out another shipping reconnaissance of the Channel Islands at 08.40 a.m. Nothing sighted. Beat up searchlight positions.

9 FEBRUARY

ORB: Convoy patrol and exercise ‘Thor’ (Searchlight Co-op) carried out by the squadron. One bogey scramble.

10 FEBRUARY

Log Book: German destroyer – made acquaintance of Herr Flak. With Hurribombers after same, nothing doing.

ORB: Four aircraft carried out a shipping reconnaissance off the west of the Cherbourg peninsula [Flt Lt Glaser, Plt Off Pike, Plt Off Cameron and Sgt Barnfather].

An enemy destroyer was sighted, proceeding at speed due south of Alderney. Glaser told them to keep wide and he would do a quick orbit to call for an emergency homing, which they did. Our aircraft were fired upon without effect. Fire from shore batteries was also experienced as the flight passed Flamanville on their return.

Sgt Keith Gamble of 234 Squadron recalled in his diary: ‘Opened up with everything and lucky to get back.’ As soon as they landed, and following on from this reconnaissance, four Hurricane bombers were escorted by eleven aircraft from the squadron and twelve from 501 Squadron and were detailed to attack the destroyer. The wing under Wg Cdr Gleed searched the area to the north of Jersey but failed to locate the destroyer. No enemy aircraft were sighted and no flak experienced.

Gamble again recalled: ‘Went out with Hurribombers later on with 118 and 234. Twenty-seven planes altogether as Spike couldn’t get off, never sighted it, must have been into port. Spent night at Mess looking at some photographs of Keith Buettel who was in England at Bradfield but had trained in Canada.’

ORB: At 1600 hours the squadron carried out a practice scramble followed by flight formation. Our twelve aircraft were airborne in 6 minutes and refuelled and rearmed in 22 minutes. Air-to-air firing was carried out. Convoy protection given by Black Section.

11 FEBRUARY

ORB: Practice flying. Four bogey scrambles by eight aircraft.

There was more bad luck for 118 Squadron when Sgt Pilot Tom Mathers and Sgt Pilot Keith Buettel RAAF, collided when at about 5,000ft over West Grinstead near Salisbury. Keith Gamble recalled with some sadness in his diary:


Flight formation and drogue firing in the morning, convoy with Mike Cameron afternoon, bit of activity and never got relieved for 2 hours. Drome cleared for me to come into land as very short of petrol, just cut out as I came over fence – pretty tinny! Barney and Wiggy [Barnfather and Webster] scrambled and off the ground in 1½ minutes, a record! Pictures at night, dinner at the Ritz at camp, still feeling pretty lousy. Keith Buettel and Tom Mathers killed today.



12 FEBRUARY

Log Book: After ‘G’ [Gneisenau] and ‘S’ [Scharnhorst] and others off Ostend. Plt Offs Pike and McLeod missing. Landed at Manston. Mac later confirmed as Plt Off W.

ORB: Four aircraft were scrambled at 0800 hours to intercept raiders that had attacked Warmwell and Exeter aerodromes. Several vectors were given but our aircraft failed to make any interceptions.

The squadron, together with 118 Squadron and 501 Squadron, were ordered to West Malling for Operation Fuller, to act as cover for the bombers of Bomber and Coastal Commands in the attack of the German cruisers Scharnhorst, Gneisenau and Prinz Eugen.

The three German capital ships had been trapped in Brest harbour for several months and had already been the subject of attacks by Bomber Command, escorted by fighters, including those based at Ibsley and including 234 Squadron. On the 12th however, in inclement weather, the German Navy attempted an audacious breakout from Brest, aiming to steam up the English Channel at speed to reach a safer port such as Wilhelmshaven. Heavy morning fog over southern England had prevented any RAF reconnaissance flights and the three German ships, heavily escorted by E-boats and flak ships, slipped out of Brest harbour undetected.

With the early morning reconnaissance cancelled, it was not until some hours later that the convoy was spotted, initially by two Spitfire pilots from Kenley, one of whom was Victor Beamish. By then, the German convoy had entered the Straits of Dover and it took some time to organise the attacks. The pilots of the Ibsley Wing were quickly alerted, as were many other squadrons in the south of England, and were sent to West Malling for refuelling and a briefing for what had become known as Operation Fuller. The plan was to fly from West Malling in an attempt to secure air superiority over the German ships, and give the RAF torpedo bombers a chance to execute their attack without being intercepted by German fighters.

By this time, however, there had been several attempted attacks against the ships. In one final attempt, Cdr Eugene Esmonde of the Fleet Air Arm and the crews of his Swordfish aircraft had made their almost suicidal attack; all six were either shot down by flak or by fighters. Esmonde died along with the rest of his crews and eleven other men, and was subsequently awarded a posthumous Victoria Cross. With the Ibsley Wing providing cover, Bristol Beaufort torpedo bombers made further attacks but they all failed and the weather, by then, was closing in and flying was becoming impossible.

All the fighter wings sent out were heavily engaged and apart from the Ibsley Wing, those at North Weald, Debden, Biggin Hill and Hornchurch were also highly involved from 11 and 12 Group. Widge Gleed and 501 Squadron came across several Me109s but mistook them for friendly so they slid into the murk without being chased. 234 and 118 joined in the battle shortly afterwards. Flt Lt D. McKay managed to get strikes on a Me109 which then collided with another and both fell into the sea, but these were the only victories and it came at a cost because 118 lost Stone, a New Zealander, while 234 lost Plt Offs Dennis Pike and McLeod.

The Germans had succeeded through a combination of bravery, poor weather, luck and a huge air screen over the convoy.

As stated above, the only success for the whole wing and 234 Squadron were the two Me109s that collided when fired upon by Flt Lt D.A.S. McKay DFM and Bar. His combat report recalls:


I took off from West Malling at 1415 hours with my No. 2, and endeavoured to join up with the leading sections that had already taken off. They had already climbed above cloud so I could not see them. I lost Yellow 2, who was about 1,000yd behind so continued on a course of 090 degrees in cloud for another 20 minutes or so. On diving through cloud at about 2,500ft I could see the French coast about 5 miles away and on my right, approximately 1,000ft below, 3 Me109Fs. I got right behind them and attacked the starboard one of the three from about 250yd, closing to about 200yd. The right hand enemy aircraft reared up and dived sideways into the leader and both aircraft crashed into the sea locked together. I saw no sign of survivors and returned to West Malling at 1540 hours.



Sgt Pilot Don MacCleod made a forced landing in northern France only to be taken prisoner and spend the rest of the war as a POW at Stalag Luft III.

Keith Gamble recalled his recollections of the day:


What a day! On early morning readiness and while still dark we were scrambled to Portland, got vectored up and down coast, could see flashes of flak guns and bomb bursts at Warmwell but were not allowed to go in until guns had finished, plotting lousy and missed great opportunity of getting them, came back very disappointed and mad with controller. 118 and 501 called to readiness about 12 o’clock so we guessed something big on. 234 scrambled at 13.10 but again the plotting all to hell. Vectored up to West Malling, south of London, quick briefing by Wingco Gleed then Wing set out over North Sea. Horrible shambles as Wingco just buzzed off by himself and never gave the Wing half a chance to form up. Bags of activity, cruisers throwing up every imaginable kind of flak – shocking weather with cloud right down on deck, everybody split up, couldn’t see whether you hit anything or not due to the clouds, everybody landed at different dromes.

234 lost Spike and MacCleod and 118 a couple. Altogether forty-two planes lost in the shambles. McKay got two certainties. Feeling pretty bad at night and went to bed early.



13 FEBRUARY

ORB: Convoy patrol the whole day. Practice local flying.

Keith Gamble’s Diary: Rested during morning while maintenance squadron worked on kites, did a convoy during afternoon with ‘Drink’ and could just about walk when I got out of plane – reported to MO after coming off readiness and as temp was 101 was bunged straight into hospital, just five weeks since I was here and feeling pretty browned off at always having colds.

14 FEBRUARY

ORB: Air-to-sea firing. Height climb by two aircraft. Convoy protection given throughout the day.

Gamble was feeling a lot better but his throat was still sore. He wrote letters all day, and commented that it was ‘great around here and [they] look after you very well – John came in and we jawed till about 22.45’.

15 FEBRUARY

ORB: Ship reconnaissance was ordered. Four aircraft from Red and Yellow Sections operated but the operation was abandoned as weather conditions were unsuitable. Airto-sea firing carried out. Convoy protection was given throughout the afternoon. Four aircraft were scrambled to Portland but no interception was made. Two aircraft were scrambled to the Needles but this also proved to be a bogey.

Gamble’s Diary: Not much sleep as throat very sore, doc called and said tonsils need removing, too much waste of time. John had a half day off so spent most of time with me, wrote letters.

16 FEBRUARY

ORB: Six aircraft carried out cannon firing. Squadron carried out a practice scramble followed by formation flying and four aircraft carried out air-to-air firing. Squadron released at 1702 hours.

Gamble’s Diary: Doc came in the afternoon and let me go feeling a bit weak but glad to get out, spent night in the Mess writing letters and talking.

17 FEBRUARY

ORB: Convoy protection throughout the day. Four aircraft were scrambled to Worth Matravers but no interception was made. Three aircraft from Blue Section carried out a shipping reconnaissance of the western area of the Cherbourg peninsula but nothing of interest sighted.

Gamble’s Diary: No flying yet, went into Salisbury with Johnny and saw Sun Valley Serenade, good show and went to supper afterwards, caught 21 bus to Fordingbridge and walked rest of way.

18 FEBRUARY

ORB: Squadron came to readiness at 0715 hours and gave protection to convoy until 1300 hours. Cannon firing carried out and Yellow Section was scrambled to Portland at 2,000ft but made no interception. Squadron was released at 1700 hours.

Gamble’s Diary: On readiness this morning, nothing doing and weather too bad in afternoon, wrote home at night, pretty browned off at not being sent back home especially now that Singapore has fallen.

19 FEBRUARY

ORB: Squadron at ‘30 minutes’ until coming to readiness at 1300 hours when the convoy was patrolled until release at 1712 hours. White Section was scrambled but again no interception was made. Red and Blue Sections carried out shipping reconnaissance off the Cherbourg peninsula, nothing of interest sighted.

20 FEBRUARY

ORB: Local practice flying. Air-to-air firing and shipping protection. Red and Blue Sections carried out a shipping reconnaissance off the Cherbourg peninsula, but again nothing of interest sighted.

Gamble’s Diary: Readiness morning, convoy low-lying and camera to sea afternoon with Red Section. Long day, very browned off. Went into Ringwood with Red and Mac and had numerous whiskies and gins but couldn’t get glow up! Caught 22.30 bus back to camp.

21 FEBRUARY

ORB: Air-to-sea firing and local practice flying. Protection was given to shipping, Red and Yellow Sections were scrambled followed by Blue, Green and Black Sections. Six bandits plotted south of Isle of Wight. Yellow Section [Plt Off Cameron and Sgt Cam] were vectored onto the position and carried out diving attacks on two aircraft, which they believed to be Me109s. Plt Off Cameron shot down one. Sgt Cam failed to register any hits.

Tragically it was found later that these aircraft were two Tomahawks from 268 Squadron who had been on a shipping recce with 501 Squadron. The Tomahawk shot down had been flown by Flt Lt C. Hawkins. He was killed when his aircraft hit a tree during an attempted forced landing near Corfe Castle. After further enquiries, it came to light that there had been bandits in the vicinity but that they had been above the friendly aircraft that had been attacked. Gamble also recalled the events of the day.

Gamble’s Diary: Weather u/s in the morning but bags of action in the afternoon. ‘A’ Flight had two scrambles then we had a Flight scramble – all off in 2 minutes. I was No. 2 to Dave Glaser, got vectored all over Channel in and out of cloud with 64 about. Heard Yellow say he was going into attack, finally spent time looking for a pilot in the drink near French coast, finger well out. Up for 1.45 and only 10 gallons left when landed. Yellow 1 had shot down a Tomahawk in mistake for a Fw190 so poor old Cameron in hell of a fix.

Went out with ‘Drink’ at 18.30 for last section on convoy and nearly got caught as weather closed in and couldn’t find drome. Finally got in at about 19.30, very relieved to get down. Very tired and went to bed early.

22 FEBRUARY

ORB: Air-to-sea and cannon testing. Practice formation flying and convoy protection given.

Gamble’s Diary: Early morning readiness, up at 0630 but never got a call till 1130 when Dave Glaser and self went out on convoy. Destroyer called us up and asked us to investigate surface craft south of them. Went out as far as French coast and finally picked it up mid-channel. Very disappointed as it turned out to be one of our boats on patrol. Practice flying with Red, Mac and Barry Denville in the afternoon – pretty rotten, can’t fly with Denville and will punch him on the nose one day! Wrote to folks at night and listened to wireless. To bed at 2300.

23 FEBRUARY

ORB: Twelve aircraft led by Flt Lt McKay carried out a squadron ‘Balbo’. Convoy patrolled until dusk.

Gamble’s Diary: Squadron Balbo in the morning and had all the luck in the world as only about 5 minutes from the drome my aircraft put a big end through the sump, everybody thought I was on fire as smoke poured from the exhausts, but I managed to glide into the drome on a faltering motor and landed safely. I couldn’t help thinking how St Christopher must have been looking over me as flying the same machine the day before, I had been at zero feet over the French coast. Convoy patrol during the afternoon and went to bed early as another early show due tomorrow.

24 FEBRUARY

ORB: Four aircraft carried out a shipping reconnaissance off the Cherbourg peninsula but returned with nothing of interest to report.

Gamble’s Diary: Convoy protection given. Only practice flying in the morning as nothing happened on readiness. Had afternoon off and went into Bournemouth to get some photos and spent a couple of hours with Len and had a few drinks at the pavilion, early to bed again.

25 FEBRUARY

ORB: Convoy protection given.

Gamble’s Diary: Quiet day, little flying, wrote letters at night and afterwards went to pictures at camp but felt pretty lousy again and couldn’t keep awake so left half way through.

26 FEBRUARY

ORB: Shipping reconnaissance carried [out]. Three ships were sighted south of Alderney. A ‘Roadstead’ was subsequently carried out by four Hurricanes and twelve aircraft from 234 Squadron and twelve from 501 Squadron but they failed to find the target. Sgt Redfern was in collision with another of our aircraft and lost his tail and the aircraft crashed into the river at Ringwood. Sgt Redfern killed.

Gamble’s Diary: Big day today, started off before dawn with Dave Glaser on convoy protection, came down about 0900 hours and after getting refuelled hopped off to France on a shipping recco without having breakfast. Wiggy [Webster] had Red for No. 2 and Dave flew No. 2 to me.

27 FEBRUARY

ORB: Convoy patrol throughout the day. Air-to-sea firing.

28 FEBRUARY

ORB: Twelve aircraft were detailed to act as cover for offensive operations on the French coast and were up from base at 0915 hours. They landed at Tangmere after an uneventful patrol and returned to Ibsley at 1200 hours. A further patrol was carried out by twelve aircraft, south of Selsey Bill, and gave cover to returning raiding forces. Scrambled four aircraft in the evening.

The first week of March saw the weather heavily curtail any operations and flying.

8 MARCH

Log Book: Through the ‘rocks’ 25,000ft and cheesy. Trying to scare some up! Don’t think they saw us.

ORB: Practice ‘beat up’ of Blandford and Bridport. Shipping reconnaissance carried out by Blue and Green Sections off the Cherbourg peninsula but nothing of interest sighted. A diversion sweep carried out by the squadron off Cherbourg. This was uneventful, no enemy sighted and no flak encountered.

9 MARCH

ORB: 234 Squadron, with 118 and 501 operating from Redhill, as the Ibsley Wing, gave escort to six Bostons in a Ramrod attack on an oil storage depot at Mazingarbe near Bethune.

No. 234 Squadron was not engaged and returned to Redhill, then back to Ibsley in the evening. No. 501 Squadron saw Me109s and engaged, with Plt Off R.A. ‘Dickie’ Newberry claiming one destroyed and Sqn Ldr ‘Bunny’ Currant claiming a probable. ‘Bunny’ himself received hits but managed to get his plane back to crash-land at Lympne where his aircraft turned over and he was admitted to hospital with cuts and grazes.

No. 118 Squadron was engaged on the way back by Fw190s and Me109s, and Plt Off MacKenzie suffered hits to his fuselage and was also wounded. He made a gallant effort to get back, crossing the English coast, but he crash-landed on the Dover to Canterbury road and was killed.

10–12 MARCH

ORB: Weather cancelled all flying.

Keith Gamble’s Diary: Still no flying, wrote letters and went to camp concert at night.

13 MARCH

ORB: Protection was given to shipping during the afternoon. No training in the morning due to weather conditions.

No. 118 Squadron lost their CO, Johnny Carver, who was shot down into the sea 5 miles west off the Casquettes after attacking two Ju88s. The French pilot with 118 Squadron, André Jubelin, scored hits on one Ju88, but Carver’s aircraft was hit by return fire after he also attacked with Sgt V.K. Moody. There seemed little hope as he had been shot down so close to the French coast. The other Ju88 was attacked by ‘Widge’ Gleed and Plt Off R.C. Lynch from 501 Squadron and it was seen to pour black smoke, but then disappeared into cloud and could only be claimed as a probable.

Gleed’s combat report for the day stated:


I was leading the cover squadron and in mid-Channel when I sent them home because of bad weather. I joined the close escort squadron and weaved. Having turned north after sighting Guernsey I saw a twin-engined aircraft that dived on to the port side of the formation. I immediately turned to attack having warned the rest of the formation on the R/T. The enemy aircraft turned towards me and climbed at full speed towards cloud cover. The enemy aircraft fired recognition signals. I identified it as a Ju88 and opened fire from dead astern at 400yd with short bursts of cannon and machine gun. The first two bursts seemed to miss and I experienced fairly accurate return fire from the top rear gunner. After the third burst all return fire ceased. From 250yd I gave several, half-second bursts of machine gun and cannon, one of which hit the port engine. This engine seemed to give off small explosions and flame. The enemy aircraft immediately levelled out and flew with one wing down. I then gave it another fairly long burst which finished my cannon ammunition. This attack had no result. Number two began attacking from astern so I broke away.

I then carried out a beam attack with machine guns only, giving a series of short bursts, and followed it up with a quarter attack. This last attack, during which I closed to 150yd, caused the nose of the enemy aircraft to dip suddenly, from which it recovered, and I saw it disappear in the rain in a very shallow dive with the usual smoke from the engines. During this last attack I heard Sqn Ldr Carver giving Mayday on his R/T. I tried to find him, but failed. All my ammunition was used.

Claim: One Ju88 probably destroyed.



Gamble’s Diary: Camera gun in morning and called to readiness in the afternoon. No. 118 lost Sqn Ldr Carver when on the sweep, he tried to shoot down a Ju88 from the rear which is suicide. Drink Thomas posted overseas so we celebrated at Royal Oak. Wiggy, Barney and Mac tossed me around on way home, great fun and everybody in bed early.

14 MARCH

Log Book: Mid-Channel with Hudsons. Phooey!

ORB: Adverse weather again ruled out flying in the morning but the Squadron was brought to readiness at midday. Close escort given to two Hudson aircraft together with 501 and 118 Squadron. The wing carried out a sweep to the east of the Cherbourg peninsula but failed to locate the shipping target. Sgt Downing crashed an aircraft in taking off for local flying – pilot was uninjured.

Gamble’s Diary: Called to readiness again, looks as if training is all a joke. Dave and self did a special convoy (American troops arriving) and put on a show for them for 2 hours. Recalled later and left with wing as escort for Hudsons pranging shipping off Le Havre. Pretty quiet show and not a success. Later caught 1600 hours bus and had tea at John’s place, pictures at Bournemouth and a few drinks with Len at Sergeants’ Mess. Back to Bath Hill, but with no bus in morning, Len lent me a bike to come back with.

15 MARCH

ORB: Practice formation flying for 20 minutes only, after which the weather closed down and cancelled all flying until the squadron was bought to readiness at 1230 hours. At 13.25 p.m., twelve aircraft led by Sqn Ldr Birchfield left to act as high cover to five Hudson aircraft in an attack on enemy shipping said to be in a position close to the September Islands. The shipping was not located, but two Me109s were found southwest of Guernsey on the outward flight and chased by Blue Section, but no interception was made.

An aircraft, later identified as a Beaufighter, but at first taken to be a Ju88, was attacked west of the September Islands, fortunately without results. Six Spitfires became detached from the wing on the return flight. They crossed the English coast at Dodman Point but the weather had closed down to about 50ft. The squadron leader took the Spits up to 3,000ft and then dived down and broke cloud at 1,000ft. Flt Lt Hogg crashed and was killed, Plt Off Locke (Canadian) crashed and was seriously injured, as was Sgt Gray, and although Plt Off Cameron also crashed, he was uninjured. All four aircraft crashed in the vicinity of Bodmin, Cornwall. The rest of the Spitfires landed in appalling weather, short of fuel at Exeter or at Bolt Head.

Gamble’s Diary: Another show today, rode bike back from John’s, 18 miles and nearly killed myself. Took off at 1400 hours with 118 and 501 and Hudsons. Dave Glaser sighted what he thought was a Ju88 and just fired but missed, Downing also fired and missed which turned out to be fortunate as the plane was a Beaufighter. Never saw the ships but came across 109s on the way back but couldn’t catch them. Dave’s section landed safely at Exeter but the other 8 tried to get above cloud to get a homing but were unsuccessful, tried coming down and after 3,000ft found themselves on top of mountains. CO and his four shot up into cloud again but Flt Lt Hogg and his three went straight in. Hogg was killed, Derek Gray and Bill Locke had both legs fractured and head injuries. Cameron got out OK. Poor show and Derek and Bill will be in hospital for many months. Poles from Exeter who came after us also had a bad day and up to the evening had lost three with ten others missing. Went to pictures at Ringwood at night with Fish and Mac and as usual went to sleep. Had a marvellous parcel from home for my birthday tomorrow, couldn’t get over how funny it was arriving the day before the event.
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